Liddle, Grace Elizabeth (2023) Biological Maturation Status Variation Within Chronological Age Groups and the Impact on Injury. Masters thesis, York St John University.

Downloaded from: http://ray.yorksj.ac.uk/id/eprint/10259/

Research at York St John (RaY) is an institutional repository. It supports the principles of open access by making the research outputs of the University available in digital form. Copyright of the items stored in RaY reside with the authors and/or other copyright owners. Users may access full text items free of charge, and may download a copy for private study or non-commercial research. For further reuse terms, see licence terms governing individual outputs. Institutional Repository Policy Statement

RaY

Research at the University of York St John For more information please contact RaY at <u>ray@yorksj.ac.uk</u>

Biological Maturation Status Variation within Chronological Age Groups and the Impact on Injury

Grace Elizabeth Liddle

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Sport and Exercise Therapy

York St John University

School of Sport

September 2023

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is their own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material. Any reuse must comply with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 and any license under which this copy is released.

© 2023 York St John University and Grace Elizabeth Liddle

The right of Grace Elizabeth Liddle to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by them in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Abstract

This Study investigated the variation of biological maturation status within chronological age groups in a football academy and its impact on injury. The injury factors of type, incidence, severity, and burden were used. What is more, the timing and status of PHV were identified as well as biological to draw comparisons and identify differences within the injury patterns. An injury audit was kept throughout the season to attain this data for the 72 participants in the chronological age groups (under 12, 13, 14, 15, 16) along with the player's measurements being taken pre-, mid-, and post-season. Descriptive statistics and a between-groups ANOVA were completed for data analysis. The results found that the range of biological maturation within the chronological age groups increased up to under 15s, while under 16s although they had a variance it was not as much as those in under 15s. Injury incidence peaked in those who were chronologically U12. With no distinctive pattern for the rest of the age-grouped teams Injury burden and days lost were both highest in the U15s. While circa-PHV had the most association with all injury factors. Once further broken down into their PHV status timing, on-time maturers were found to have the greatest injury association. Overall, the results from this study do not directly align with those already found and more research is needed particularly into the players PHV timing.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Introduction	5
Injury in Adolescent Football	8
Definition	8
Туре	9
Biological Maturation	10
Timing and Tempo	10
Physical Changes to Performance and Risk	11
Measuring Injury and Maturity in Adolescent Football	13
Measuring Maturity	13
Measuring Injury	18
Links to Injury and Importance of Dose-Response	23
Methods	24
Study Period and Participants	24
Measures and Procedure	25
Data Analytic Strategies	27
Results	28
Biological Maturity	28
Injury	29
Туре	31
Discussion	33
Biological Maturation Status Variation Within Chronological Age Groups	33
Injury Incidence	35
Injury Burden	38
Injury Severity	41
Conclusion	43
Limitations	43
References	43

Introduction

Football is one of the most popular sports in the world with an estimated 5 billion fans (FIFA, 2021). The 2022 FIFA World Cup in Qatar had a record-breaking 5.4 billion views (BeIn Sports 2022), however, despite the popularity of those professionals on our screens they make up only a small percentage of the accumulative participants of the football population. Participants are predominantly made up of those under 18 (FIFA, 2007). Data from 2018/19 published by the UK Government found that 62.2% of their pool of 315 boys aged between 11- 16 had played football within the past 4 weeks (GOV.Uk, 2020). From toddler groups to grassroots most children at some point aspire to be a professional like the idols they see on the screen.

Despite the goal of a successful professional sporting career, it is advantageous for children and adolescents to participate in sports because of the wider benefits to the participant's overall health and well-being. This is why it has been stated that football is medicine (Krustrup and Krustrup, 2018). Not only does it benefit cardiovascular and neuromuscular (krustrup et al, 2010) fitness it also allows the participants to benefit from the social aspect of the sport, thus giving an advantage in their mental health (Swann et al, 2018). However, along with the positives, participation in football also poses risks, such as injury. Football is a high-intensity sport requiring complex movement patterns and probable contact or impact on a player. This then results in players and/or their caregivers being anxious or discouraged from playing the sport, in fear of suffering an injury (Faude, Röbler and Junge, 2013). Preventative measures are then needed in order to mitigate this risk. An example of this is the current trial by the Football Association of the no-heading rule for children in the under 12 age group. This trial aims to 'mitigate against any potential risks that may be linked to heading the ball, including injuries from head-to-head, elbow-to-head, or head-to-ground contact, and it represents a cautious approach to playing and enjoying football while ongoing research continues in this area' (The Football Association, 2022). Although the evidence on the benefit of banning heading in this age group is limited the reasoning behind the implementation is because of the limited knowledge of neurological disease and its causes. Chronic Traumatic Encephalopathy (CTE) was initially thought to only be seen in former boxers but recently NFL players and retired premier league players have been diagnosed with the disease. It is thought to be caused by repetitive impact on the head. The ban on heading is thought to protect the longevity of adolescent players. What is more, it also reduces the risk of an impact or collision injury from the heading and so also aims at protecting the athlete in the more short-term and instant aspect (Stewart and Carson, 2022). Injuries increase the risk of a player dropping out of the sport and are associated with burnout. Burnout occurs as a result of stress that causes an athlete to stop participating in a sport they once enjoyed (DiFiori et al, 2014). This may be caused by an athlete being unable to fully perform and show their potential causing themselves stress on their position in the participation. Football is a seasonal sport and not usually the only sport played by athletes this age, this can result in over training which in turn increases the chance of an injury. Overtraining and injury can then have the consequence of burnout. What is more pressure from not only the child themselves but also parents and coaches can have a negative impact on the Child's psychological burnout ()

Football clubs worldwide commonly use academy programs as a developmental pathway to mould new talent for their affiliated clubs or to progress their players to bigger clubs in return for profit (Jones et al., 2019). For a smaller club with a more limited budget, the academy and talent identification process can be used to either enhance their senior squad or generate revenue by selling their players ageing out of the academy program. Academies usually span U9 to U23 age groups and will commonly use decimal age as a grouping agent within teams and training, in concordance with educational systems. Using chronological age is easily

6

implemented as it is cost-effective and requires no screening or assessment. Age groups also are beneficial because of the seemingly linear development trajectories of behavioural, social, and cognitive system development (Thurlow, Kite and Cummings, 2022). However, this is not the case in relation to individual physical development, associated with biological maturation (Lloyd et al, 2014). Biological maturation is defined as 'the progression towards the mature state and consists of two components: timing and tempo' (Malina, Bouchard and Bar-Or., 2009 as cited by Bacil et al., 2015, p.1). The timing and tempo of development are highly individualised to each athlete, occurring at different times for decimal age in adolescents (Philippaerts et al., 2006) and therefore must be considered within the development continuum.

This biological bandwidth becomes a particular problem for adolescent age groups, during which they experience a phase of growth known as peak hight velocity (PHV) (Malina et al. 2012). This period can witness a growth of approximately 7.5-9.7 cm/year and occurs between the decimal ages of 10.7 and 15.2 years old (Philippaerts et al.,2006; Towlson et al.,2021). PHV is individual to each player so there is a potential for athletes to be ahead or behind their peers in their timing of PHV (Malina et al, 2015). Thus, causing some players to be more or less physically developed than their age-group counterparts. The players who mature earlier may have an advantage over the later maturing players through enhanced strength and power (Cumming et al, 2017). Yapici et al. (2022) found that biological maturation had a meaningful correlation with vertical jump height and power. What is more, Wilczyński et al. (2022) furthered the earlier finding by including a long jump the researchers found a significance between biological maturation, power, and strength. They then also stated that although not as significant there is a relationship being biological maturation and dynamic balance.

7

Biological maturity has also been shown to be linked with injury incidence, severity, and burden (Monasterio et al. 2022; Johnson et al. 2022; Materne et al. 2021). Players who are in their PHV are at a greater risk of sustaining a growth injury such as Osgood Schlatter's Disease or Sinding-Larsen-Johansson syndrome (Bult, Barendrecht and Tak, 2018). Managing PHV is important for practitioners to reduce injury incidence, thus creating an increase in positive longterm outcomes for young players (Salter, Johnson and Towlson, 2021). (Bult, Barendrecht and Tak

Tak, 2018) found an increase in injury risk of 31% during a period of 6 months after an athlete's PHV, they then stated that this could be caused by a decrease in flexibility and bone density.

Based on the literature and the apparent increase in injury incidence around this turbulent period, this study aims to identify how variation in maturity status within chronological age groups impacts injury, specifically severity, incidence burden and type.

Injury in Adolescent Football

Definition

injury definitions used are dependent on the research question and the context in which the study is concerned (Østergaard-Nielsen et al. 2020). A consensus statement by Fuller et al (2006, p. 193) defined injury as 'Any physical complaint sustained by a player that results from a football match or football training, irrespective of the need for medical attention or time loss from football activities. An injury that results in a player receiving medical attention is referred to as a "medical attention" injury, and an injury that results in a player being unable to take a full part in future football training or match play as a "time loss" injury.' This definition while it restricts injuries to the sport being played was proposed at the First World Congress on Sports Injury Prevention in 2005 by the Fédération Internationale de Football Association Medical Assessment and Research Centre (F-MARC). Using this definition gives consistent and comparable results for studies that investigate football injuries. What is more, if we were to include injuries from outside of football itself it may skew the findings as it may not be directly associated with the player's maturation status and the effect on their injury risk.

Туре

A study by Wik et al. (2021) investigated the injury patterns in an elite national academy over four seasons. They used 301 participants aged 11-18 years old and recorded 1,111 timeloss injuries. They found that the younger age groups U13 and U14 had a higher proportion of gradual onset injury or overuse injuries. The research paper found 33% in U13 and 37% in

U14 compared to the older age groups whose percentage didn't peak higher than 25%. Yang et al (2012) stated that an overuse injury results from cumulative trauma or repetitive use and stress. They then advanced the definition further to state that overuse injuries occur when there is insufficient recovery time and gave examples of different overuse injuries. Wik et al. (2020) found that Osgood-Schlatter's Disease was the most prominent growth-related overuse injury with 33 incidences the median time loss being 5 days. An overuse injury is caused by repetitive submaximal loading causing stress on the affected region which is then followed by insufficient recovery. Preferably the body will react to training by adapting and getting stronger, but if there is too much stress, not enough recovery or both together the body breaks down unable to handle the forces posed, resulting in injury (Johnson. 2008). Commonly overuse injuries transpire in the tendons, bursa, cartilage, and bone. Injuries include but aren't limited to stress fractures and tendinopathies (Pecina and Bojanic, 2003). This can be explained by the development of tissue, for example, woven bone makes up our skeleton from birth but

9

when we begin to mature the process of replacing that bone with lamellar bone begins as it is stronger. Before maturation, the player's body is then made up of a relatively fragile skeleton and weak muscles compared to after maturation.

The causes of an overuse injury are multifactorial, they can be intrinsic or extrinsic. Intrinsic factors are internal and are challenging to control. Extrinsic factors can include poor technique and so it is easier to change. Maturing players are at a higher risk of an overuse injury because of their vulnerable musculoskeletal system. The changes in limb length, body mass, flexibility and bone density cause the capacity to deal with forces to alter (Leppänen et al., 2019). What is more Leppänen et al. (2019) found that the peak prevalence of knee growth-related issues such as Osgood-Shlatter's and Sinding-Larsen-Johansson syndrome is 10-14, while heelrelated growth pain such as severs is more common in those under 11.

The overall incidence of injury was higher in the older age groups this could be the outcome of past injury, greater playing intensity or competitiveness and aggression (Read et al., 2018). Traumatic injuries are caused by a specific event or incidence, such as a tackle or the player's own awkward movement, such as a difficult landing. Examples include a fracture, concussion, or contusion. (Fuller et al, 2006). Although the mechanism for acute traumatic injuries is comparative in adults and adolescents, the structure injured is vastly different and so requires extra caution and care. Fractures are more likely in adolescent athletes due to their bone structure with weaker bones and active growth plates (Levine et al., 2022).

Biological Maturation

Timing and Tempo

Timing refers to the chronological age at which a maturity event occurs. A maturity event can manifest as various changes for example growth spurts, age of appearance of pubic hair etc. (Baxter-Jones, Eisenmann and Sherar, 2005). Tempo signifies the rate of development and progress of such events. Bacil et al. (2015) modified timing and tempo to timing and time. They then went on to define timing as 'the moment when a given maturation event occurs' and give the example of the 'growth spurt period' also known as a growth in peak height velocity. Time was then outlined as the rate, at which the event such as the growth spurt is occurring. Although Bacil et al. (2015) are one of the limited papers in which a description of the definition is found, using timing and time may be confusing in the application with practitioners and academics, using 'timing and tempo' within the definition but defining tempo using the time description may be beneficial in the clarification. In a paper by Lloyd et al. (2014), they simplified the definition for practical application which allows for simple use and limited confusion. They identified that timing is the manifestation of the change whereas tempo is the rate of the said change. PHV is a key developmental stage within football academies that needs to be considered when making talent identification and selection decisions. For males, PHV usually occurs around the age of 13.8, however, it has been suggested that this transpires earlier in active males such as those in academy football (Tsutsui et al., 2022). In the Irish Talent Squad between their 159 players, 13 and 15s and 16s, 51% were early maturing, 39% were on time and 10% were late maturing (Sweeney et al., 2022). PHV occurs within the age range of 10.7 to 15.2 (Philipaerts et al., 2006; Towlson et al., 2018). We can use height and body mass to recognise growth, the average age to recognise growth using height in active boys is 13.1 compared to 13.8 in non-active boys, while body mass changes occur later, for active boys this occurs at 13.3, and in non-active boys, it occurs at 14.2 (Malina et al, 1997).

Physical Changes to Performance and Risk

11

During adolescence, growth occurs in a proximal to distal manner, stimulated by accelerated growth in long bones (Hill et al. 2022). At PHV, growth rates for boys can be 7-14 cm per year, compared to in childhood which is usually 4-5 cm per year. Changes in limb length can cause adolescent awkwardness which has been linked to changes in performance. Adolescent awkwardness is temporary and caused by disruption to motor coordination due to a growth spurt leading to a decrease in neuromuscular control. As the athletes mature and train their overall control of their stretch-shortening cycle function increases which helps as they progress through their age-grouped sport and motor skills (Radnor et al. 2018). For boys particularly during the three to six months after PHV, they have their Peak Weight Velocity (PWV), they will gain around 9-10 kg per year. Thus, impacting the power and strength they can produce, what is more with an increase in control over SSC function they can have the ability to then control their bigger stature. With changes in testosterone, there are developments in muscle mass and bone accretion (Hill et al., 2022). Biomechanically the moment of inertia increases during growth. Limb growth, PWV and moment of inertia all interrelate collectively but this is not essentially in a linear manner. This then affects limb dynamics, and the forces muscles are required to generate to perform. As the tissues become stronger there may be discrepancies in rate. The muscle itself may be stronger than the bone or tendonous structures causing asynchronous gain of strength, leaving them vulnerable to injury. It has been found that insertion sites are particularly vulnerable to repetitive load (Hawkins and Metheny, 2001 as cited in Wik et al., 2020).

This misalignment between soft and hard tissue development causes an increase in the risk of overuse and growth-related injuries (Johnson et al., 2022). As stated earlier, insertion or attachment sites are particularly vulnerable during maturation as growth-related injuries such as Osgood-Schlatter disease are caused by the inflammation of the patellar tendon attachment on the tibial tuberosity. Osgood-Schlatter's disease is common in adolescent football and so supports the statement indicated previously.

Biological maturation timing and tempo vary with each player, so it is not always appropriate to train and play in that way. Bio-banding uses biological maturity status rather than decimal age to group players with their more equal counterparts rather than having a player who is early maturing and a lot larger tackling and playing with a smaller less matured equivalent.

Two main benefits were found in a recent research article by Bradley et al. (2019), they observed that the early maturing players felt as though they had a greater physical and technical challenge, which is different from usual as they could overpower their other later maturing teammates. While the late maturing teammates perceived less physical and technical challenge thus allowing them to exhibit more technical and tactical abilities. For both groups, the bio-banding created new opportunities and challenges in which they could grow their skills. The research paper used male participants from three different professional academies who competed in a tournament, what is more, the players also stated that they enjoyed the biobanding and understood the purpose, acknowledging the apparent risk of injury decline. Overall, the paper found that bio-banding can facilitate development for all players regardless of their maturity status.

Measuring Injury and Maturity in Adolescent Football

Measuring Maturity

Not one individual characteristic can determine the timing and tempo of biological maturation, however, the common indicators are largely used as a method of defining the process (Malina et al., 2012) to not cause confusion and limit the applicability. Various methods can be used in the estimation of biological maturity status, some common measures include skeletal age and secondary sex characteristics. Measures used can be separated into invasive and noninvasive categories.

Invasive Measures

Currently, X-rays of the left hand and wrist are regarded as the gold standard method in measuring skeletal age as they have the greatest validity and reliability (Cavallo et al. 2021). Skeletal age refers to the stage of biological maturation as indicated by the skeletal tissue (Lloyd et al, 2014). The maturation of the skeletal system involves the transition from a cartilaginous structure to fully developed ossified bones. Several methods of assessment of radiographs exist. Most of them use a left-hand image and are compared to predetermined measures (Malina. 2011). The most commonly applied assessment modalities used are the Greulich-Pyle method, Fels method and Tanner-Whitehouse method.

The Greulich-Pyle method was first validated using a collection of radiographs from white children of a high socioeconomic status (Greulich and Pyle, 1959). A left hand/wrist X-ray was compared against X-rays of various levels of skeletal maturation. Skeletal age was then determined depending on which reference x-ray it reflected best. For example, if a 12-yearold x-ray best matched the reference x-ray of a 14-year-old they were said to be an early maturer. This however has limitations as bone tissue doesn't mature in a uniform manner and so doesn't account for individual rates of bones. What is more, the study was done solely on white participants, and so is not applicable to other ethnicities. Zhang et al. (2009) stated that ethnic and racial differences in growth patterns exist and that the Greulich-Pyle method doesn't acknowledge this. This is especially prominent in boys aged 11-15 which is when this study is measuring biological maturation and is in peak the PHV period.

The Tanner-Whitehouse method has been revised twice since the original in 1962, with the most recent update in 2001. This method unlike the previously mentioned requires various criteria for the wrist and hand of 13 or 20 bones (Tanner et al, 2001). Each bone is analysed and compared with detailed analyses. The bones are then given their individual maturation score, with a cumulative score given from these to determine skeletal age. This method used British children in the first two validations however the third and final used samples from European, South American, North American, and Japanese youth. A limitation of this method is that it is time-consuming and complex.

Fels longitudinal study used data collected from the 1930s and 1970s to construct the Fels method. A maturity assessment on the radius, ulna, carpals, metacarpals, and phalanges provides a grade on each according to age and sex. Using a specific software, the skeletal age and a standard error of the estimate are provided. Although like the others this method is time-consuming and complex the standard error of the measurement is a benefit, particularly for the long-term tracking of the biological maturation of the participant.

Secondary sex characteristics are an indicator of pubertal status. Features include pubic hair and axillary hair for both sexes. For males, it also includes voice changes, facial hair, and genitalia (testes, testicular volume, penis, and scrotum). In females, it can be the growth of breasts and their first menstrual period. Genitalia, breasts, and pubic hair are assessed relative to exclusive conditions from initial development to the mature state. The stages are assessed clinically, however self-assessment can be used (Malina et al, 2015). The Tanner method uses a five-stage grading system for breasts in females, genitalia in males and pubic hair in both sexes (Tanner, 1962). The Tanner method doesn't allow for differentiation within stages as with 2 children one could be at the start, and one could be at the end of said stage, but both condemned to the same category. This methodology also doesn't reveal information about the tempo of the child's maturation, complicating the comparison between the maturation status of children. What is more, this method is only applicable during the pubertal phase, limiting its time frame for its applicability (Lloyd et al, 2014).

Skeletal age is a less distressing measure compared to secondary sex characteristics which include the measure of pubic hair, genitals, and testicular volume. However, using X-rays on the children exposes them to harmful radiation. Contrary to this Serinelli et al. (2015) found that there is evidence that MRI is more accurate than X-ray due to its resolution, furthermore, it also does not use ionizing radiation. What is more, skeletal age is available from childhood through to adolescent age, while secondary sex characteristics are limited to pubertal years (Malina et al., 2012). The cost of using radiographic modalities to explore biological maturation is not appropriate for all academies, especially those from lower league teams. Both skeletal age and secondary sex characteristics require a specialist and so causes not only a financial issue but also a time and availably concern. Non-invasive measures include measuring height and weight which is more applicable in this environment with youth football academy players.

Non-Invasive Measures

Somatic maturation is a sign of biological maturation, which can be observed by growth. The longitudinal collection of height, weight and changes in limb length can provide the data to create growth curves. The growth curves created allow for the identification of PHV, thus pinpointing the age of a child's maximum rate of growth during their growth spurt. Although this method allows for the identification of PHV, it can only be recognised after the peak has been observed, so using maturity offset approaches allows use from 8 years old, which can be used

to give an indication of maturity timing. What is more, peak adult height percentage (PAH%) can then help predict the timing as we have gained from this in studies done that PHV occurs around 90%. The knowledge that the child is either later, average, or early maturing is helpful however to the coaching staff in their assessments of players and coaching style. What is more, for medical staff this knowledge allows the identification of predisposed risk to certain injuries and if applicable the steps can be put in place to reduce said risk.

Mirwald et al. (2002) created an equation in which the age from PHV can be calculated. The equation has a standard deviation of 6 months; however, this approach does consider that long bones such as the legs have a differential growth rate compared to shorter bones or the trunk. The longer bones in the leg's peak growth are found to be earlier. This was done by not only incorporating standing height but also sitting height. What is more, there are two separate equations for males (figure 1) and females (figure 2) considering the typical differentiation in age the PHV occurs. This method although at first thought to be able to 95% of the time reliably predict PHV within 1 year was re-evaluated by various articles and it was found to overestimate in older age groups and underestimate in those who are younger. Furthermore, it was found it overestimated the timing of PHV when it was imminent, thus being unreliable for studies (Salter et al. 2022).

(1)

 $\begin{array}{ll} \mbox{Maturity offset} = & \\ -29.769 + 0.0003007 & \\ \times \mbox{leg length and sitting height interaction} - 0.01177 & \\ \times \mbox{age and leg length interaction} + 0.01639 & \\ \times \mbox{age and sitting height interaction} + 0.445 & \\ \times \mbox{leg by height ratio} & \end{array}$

Maturity offset = -16.364 + 0.0002309×leg length and sitting height interaction $+ 0.006277 \times age$ and sitting height interaction (2) $+ 0.179 \times leg$ by height ratio + 0.0009428×age and weight interaction. The Khamis-Roche method was a development from the Fels method stated previously. It uses the child's decimal age, height, and weight, with both their parent's height ([Mothers + Fathers]/2) to produce a predicted mature height excluding the use of an x-ray for skeletal age. The player's current height is presented as a percentage of their overall predicated mature height, this then provides an estimate of their biological maturity status (Malina et al, 2007). This methodology has been compared to the actual values reached and demonstrates satisfactory constancy. This is a suitable alternative to a non-invasive method as it doesn't require highly trained personnel or expensive equipment which aren't always attainable, especially at the academy level. Because of the simplicity of the collection of data for the equation, this technique can be used on larger sample sizes (Olivares, De León and Fragoso, 2020).

Measuring Injury

Taking an active approach to injury prevention within academy football is becoming increasingly popular because of the immediate and long-term benefits of player availability and growth. By collecting and analysing data key risks and issues can be identified within age groups and maturation groups which clinicians and coaches can try to mitigate by introducing various protocols or practices.

The lead sports therapist and on-hand medical personnel used an injury audit to collect the injury data being measured. An injury audit allows for the collection and analysis of injuries within the season. Various elements can be included in the injury audit to measure the injury itself such as injury type, severity, incidence, and burden. What is more, all the injuries recorded can also be compared to the player's maturity status and whether they are on time, late or early maturing. Before an academy can identify the risks or common injuries for their

players an injury audit is needed to track the various measures. Audits are free to do, for a smaller academy or sporting team this is useful, what is more, they can include any factor you would like to fit in with the medical and team needs.

Injury Incidence

Injury incidence is the number of injuries per exposure time, to standardise this it is common to report incidence rates as number of injuries per 1000 hours. This method allows comparison across sports teams. However, using actual exposure time makes a more specific and refined calculation (Hodgson-Phillips, 2000). Overall exposure time includes matches as well as training, but results can also be produced to show the incidence rate in matches and training to allow for comparison. Compared to professional football players, youth players have an increased incidence rate of injuries during training (Materne. 2021), which is why it is important that this is included in this particular study. The academy in which this project was completed trains for 1.5 hours twice a week and in compliance with the league's rules for under 12s to under 16s play 80 minutes in any matches played which was on a Saturday. In team sports, exposure hours are calculated using the number of players on the pitch at one time multiplied by the duration of the game, which is 1.33 hours for the age groups used, then multiplied by the games in the season.

There is a linear relationship between growth rate and injury incidence. As players get older the incidence of injury increases. Robles-Palazón et al. (2022) investigated injury patterns over 9 months within a Spanish male youth soccer academy. They had an overall incidence of 3.1 injuries per 1000 h, the majority of these injuries being muscle and tendon injuries to the player's lower extremities. The study also identified that not only does the incidence of injuries increase with maturation and age but that during PHV the risk of overuse injuries is heightened, Materne (2021) went further to state that fractures should also be included in this period. They also stated that there may be a potential that early maturing players have a higher incidence rate (Johnson et al., 2009 as cited in Materne, 2021). Contrary to this Van der Sleuis et al (2014) found that late-maturing players who were more gifted had a higher incidence of overuse injuries, particularly in the year before their PHV.

The documentation of injury incidence rates allows practitioners to recognise players who may be at a greater risk for certain injuries and allows surveillance and strategies to be put in place to help either reduce or manage the risk. This then benefits not only the player but also the academy as it allows them to be more prepared for what could come (Toselli et al., 2021).

Injury Severity

Not only can the Oslo Sports Trauma Questionnaire discussed earlier, be used to define injury it can be used to measure injury. As mentioned previously, a severity score is made if an athlete has a health issue, this was determined by their level of participation and impact on performance and training. Within this paper the applicability of the Oslo Sports Trauma definition although preferred is limited as adherence to a questionnaire is limited, furthermore, the reliability of depending on athletes to notify the medical personnel of any health problem is ambiguous.

The Injury Severity Score (ISS) is a scoring method that provides an overall score for patients with multiple injuries. Each of the patient's injuries are given an abbreviated injury scale (AIS), which is allocated to one of six body regions. The three most severely injured regions then

20

have their score squared and added together to produce the ISS score between 0 and 75 (Javali et al., 2019). The ISS scale was validated and sorted by Bolorundo et al (2011) less than 9 is mild, 9-15 is moderate, 16-24 is severe and 25 or more is profound. The disadvantage of the ISS is that only one injury is considered per body region, thus overlooking other injuries in that region.

Time loss from full participation in training and matches can be used to determine injury severity (Ekstrand et al., 2021). This definition however can cause difficulties as participation in sport can be a cycle of full participation and partial participation especially in the management of certain overuse injuries, such as severs where at some point the injury is manageable and the athlete can train or play a full match whereas sometimes the athlete can only partake in so much of the session. Instead of using the term 'full participation' Sprouse et al. (2020) used regular training or match play this leaves the definition more open to interpretation of the athletes still partaking in the sessions even if it is not a full session or full recovery as some injuries do not have a full recovery. This definition may be more applicable, especially in the environment of an adolescent football academy where multiple players have a growth-related injury. Sprouse et al. (2020) then classified injury severity into thresholds of 1-7 days being a minor absence, 8-28 days being a moderate absence, 29-89 days being a severe absence and more than 90 days being a major absence. These thresholds were created using multiple pieces of literature and research that had tried and tested the process the first being a consensus statement by Fuller et al. (2006) and the other also a more recent consensus statement from the International Olympic Committee by Bahr et al. (2020).

Injury Burden

Injury burden is the combination of injury incidence and severity (Bahr, Clarsen and Ekstrand, 2018). Reporting of injury burden is usually analysed by the calculation in Figure 3. It is the total number of days lost per 1000 hrs of exposure whether this be training, match-play, or a combination of the two, and it can represent and be equal to the product of injury incidence.

Player-days' absence / player-hours

Biological maturation has been recognised as a potential risk factor for injury and so resulting in the injury burden of football injuries being high. Only reporting injury incidence provides an incomplete picture of injuries. While reporting injury burden allows for the consequence of injuries to be highlighted (Bahr, Clarsen and Ekstrand. 2018). What is more, there is a variation in burden in the maturation and growth phase itself. The Study by Robles-Palazón et al. (2022) mentioned previously not considering injury incidence but also burden they found that like injury incidence PHV causes the greatest impact on injury burden. Not only do clinicians and coaches need to be aware of the heightened risk of injury and its burden for maturation but they also need to be mindful of the variation in said risk within the stages of biological maturation whether that be circa-PHV or post-PHV. Monasterio et al (2023) used longitudinal growth data collected from elite academy soccer players over two decades to find that the burden of growth-related injuries was greater in players with an excelled pace of PHV rather than those who are average or slower in circa-PHV. The research paper hypothesised that this is due to adolescent awkwardness as mentioned prior in this paper which is caused by the rapid growth causing a variation to usual movement kinematics. Or that a temporary decrease in bone mineral density caused by skeletal growth causes vulnerability. The detection of those with fast-paced PHV circa-PHV allows for extra care to be taken to reduce their risk of growthrelated injuries. This can be done by controlling load and monitoring any complaints or symptoms to identify early any growth-related issues.

Early Maturing players or those who are post-PHV were found to have a higher injury burden, especially for muscle and joint/ligament. Specifically, hamstring injuries are found to be the most burdensome (Robles-Palazón et al., 2022). This was in agreement with Wik et al. (2021) who also found hamstring injuries to be the most burdensome. What is more, both studies described that ankle injuries also had a high burden rate. The data allows the academy staff to prioritize any preventative measures taken then aiming to have a positive impact on the player's longevity and growth within the team (Bahr, Clarsen and Ekstrand. 2018).

Links to Injury and Importance of Dose-Response

The volume of the activity the adolescent is involved in is important for practitioners, coaches, and other key stakeholders to know as with inappropriate training load injury risk increases as stated by Drew and Finch (2016) in their systematic review. Biological maturation develops at different rates for each individual, adolescents of the same chronological age may be at different points of decimal age in the maturation process (Philippaerts et al., 2006). This makes individual load management difficult in team settings for growing athletes. Jones et al. (2019) found that in male soccer players non-contact injuries have a high prevalence of 53%72%. This emphasises the significance of load management to reduce the risk of injury, which would result in time lost. Additionally, for adolescents, injuries sustained at the youth level can have longer-term consequences, an example of this would be the athlete becoming more susceptible to future injury and long-term health risks (Salter, Johnson and Towlson. 2021).

Recovery is important for both healthy and injured athletes when reducing the risk and treating overuse injuries, recovery of an athlete can target both psychological and physical aspects (Brink et al., 2010). Limited research has been done on the training prescription for adolescent athletes (Salter, Johnson and Towlson., 2021). Recovery that corresponds to the load prescribed is vital, inadequate recovery increases the chances of fatigue or overuse injury and reduces performance (Brink et al., 2010), the risk of this is already elevated for adolescents due to their biological maturation during their PHV.

Methods

Study Period and Participants

In this prospective study, injury data was collected over the August 2022 to June 2023 football season from a professional academy using chronologically aged teams where biological maturation is likely to take place and be a factor in their development in football (under 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16s). In total 72 participants from the male youth development programme were included in the study, they were excluded if their injury was not sustained at academy training and/or game or if they did not engage in the general health screening to obtain the relevant data. Those who could not provide parental height were not excluded from taking part in the general health screening, however, their data was not analysed. Before the start of the study, all information on experimental procedures, benefits and risks was given to gain informed consent by both the athlete and their parent or guardian as they are all under the age of 18. Written consent was acquired before the start of the study. All the measurements were taken voluntarily. Due to the study being non-invasive, there is minimal risk for participants, however, the option to drop out was available throughout the project at any time.

The club themselves then gave permission to collect and use the data. The recruitment of the participants came from working with the academy teams and all measures were built into the youth development programme. Throughout the study the participants remained anonymous by being allocated a participant ID, this data was then be kept confidential on a password-protected computer. What is more, if the study caused the participants psychological harm they will be directed to a suitable professional. Physical harm from training, games etc. will be assessed, treated, and referred if needed by the lead sports therapist and medical team at the club. The general health screening was held during pre-season (September), post-season (December) and mid-season (May) to allow the year to capture the participant's growth and development phases. Player's height and weight were measured for use in the maturation equation, while jump height, sprint time and endurance testing were also done to monitor their overall fitness but was not used for this specific study.

Participant Retention and Drop-out

Initially, the study comprised of 80 players, but due to various participants not meeting the inclusion criteria 72 made up the used data set. No participants dropped out who met all criteria however, some were excluded due to having no maturation data caused by illness, or in-season transfers meaning they couldn't make the general health screening when the measures were taken.

Measures and Procedure

Various measures have been proposed to quantify biological maturation, however, the gold standard is the Greulich-Pyle method using hand X-rays, but this was not feasible in this

specific study due to the financial cost and ethical considerations of unnecessary radiation exposure. What is more, it requires a trained physician to carry out X-rays (Cavallo et al. 2021). Nevertheless, the estimated percentage of adult stature attainment (%EASA) also named the Khamis-Roche equation will be used as it has an accuracy within 2% and is a noninvasive, affordable measure unlike the aforementioned. The equation requires the athletes' biological parents' heights which were collected at the start of the season while the player registered to the club. The athletes' sitting height, standing height and weight, all of which were acquired during the standard health and fitness testing which took place three times the first in pre-season, Christmas break and the final postseason.

A standard stadiometer was used to collect the standing and seated height of the players using The International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry (ISAK) guidelines (Norton, 2018). As per the guidelines the players were instructed to face away from the stadiometer standing as tall as they could with their feet hip-width apart and heels touching the back of the back plate. Three measurements were taken by the same practitioner to reduce inter-rater reliability issues. Using the same stadiometer seated height was taken by asking the players to sit with their backs up to the stadiometer on a 40 cm box. Again, they looked straight ahead and were told to sit as tall as they could while three measurements were taken from the same practitioner. With the standing and sitting height values, you can then calculate leg length (Standing – sitting height). Weight also needed to be taken for the maturity calculation which required a scale. Again, for validity, 3 measures were taken. All measurements were taken in a laboratory setting with the same equipment, while following international standards on anthropometric assessment to mitigate any external factors and ensure reliability and validity.

The data collected from the general health screening was inputted into a customized excel spreadsheet (Towlson et al, 2021) which contained a 'control panel' in which all player information was inputted including their name, age, age group, position, date of birth and

26

parental height. The cells were then programmed to utilise this data on a separate tab with the anthropometric data collected periodically through the season. Using this data the spreadsheet calculated the player's biological age, percentage of peak adult height also known as Khamis-Roche and biological vs chronological offset. Biological vs Chronological offset is the player's biological age subtracted from their chronological age using the Khamis-Roche approach. This allows us to see the discrepancy between where chronologically they should be to their actual body's age or maturation (Khamis and Roche, 1994), we can then gather from the data we collect if this causes an impact on injury.

An injury audit was used to collect injury data by the lead sports therapist. They used the definitions stated prior for example for injury the definition by Fuller et al (2006) and with regards to injury severity classification, the system created by Sprouse et al. (2020) and then tried and tested by Fuller et al (2006). It allowed for the collection and analysis of all the injuries over the season, 12 injuries had to be excluded from the analysis, the criteria for this was due to not having maturity data on the affected player which excluded 9 injuries, while also injuries from outside football training or games at the academy from external factors cannot be determined if football participation and maturation had an effect and so excluded another 3. Injuries should also be excluded if all data on the player is not available such as an injury that started before the season and when maturation data was calculated, or if they do not return to full participation before the end of the academy season. After each assessment of an injury to a player, the lead sports therapist would document the findings. Throughout the management and rehab of the injury reassessments and return to plays were documented to give key information which was then inputted into the various elements recorded which were the injury type, severity, incidence, and burden

Data Analytic Strategies

27

As this study uses a quantitative approach the data was pooled by the players age group, maturation status and timing, it was then cleaned meaning any data that met the exclusion criteria was removed, this data was then analysed using Jeffrey's Amazing Statistics Program (JASP). Descriptive statistics were used to compare and analyse the data to try to determine patterns within the data this was done using mean \pm SD values. What is more, confidence intervals (95% CI) were used on the p values reported in table 5. A three way between-groups ANOVA was also completed to compare players categorised as either early (>0.6 years), on-time (\pm 0.6 years) or late (<0.6 years) developers based on biological age offset. The level for significant findings was set at p<0.05, Cohen's D was also used to determine any meaningful difference specific to the data's used sample size. The data found was then identified by its threshold to determine whether it was Trivial (<0.1), small (>0.2) or moderate (>0.5).

Results

Biological Maturity

This study commenced with over 100 academy football players, within this cohort players were excluded due to not having maturation data, because of illness or in-season transfers to or from another club, resulting in 72 players creating the functioning data. Of the remaining players observed over the season the biological age was calculated and it was found within a single age group it could range from 1.4 to 3.5 years, with the largest variance found in U15s (Table 1). The table below represents the variation of biological age and biological vs. chronological age offset within the chronological age groups.

	U12		U13		U14		U15		U16	
	(N=11)		(N=15)		(N=15)		(N=21)		(N=10)	
	Mean (SD)	Range								
Chronological	11.55	11.3 –	12.83	12.1 –	13.59	13.0 –	14.71	14.1 –	15.49	15.2 –
Age	(0.20)	11.8	(0.32)	13.5	(0.34)	13.9	(0.31)	15.3	(0.22)	16

Biological Age	11.46	10.8 –	12.72	11.3 –	14.17	13.3 –	14.88	13.7 –	15.99	15.2 –
	(0.42)	12.2	(0.70)	13.8	(0.66)	15.8	(0.79)	17.2	(0.66)	16.9
Bio v Chron	-0.10	-0.70 –	-0.13	-0.90 –	0.57	-0.3 –	0.16	-0.5 –	0.48	-0.2 -
Offset	(0.46)	0.70	(0.55)	0.90	(0.54)	1.8	(0.63)	2.3	(0.61)	1.5

Table 1. The variation of biological age and biological vs chronological age offset within the chronological age groups

Injury

Injuries documented across all age groups in the season totalled 48, however, 12 injuries were unusable as we didn't have the biological maturity data or it was an external injury, because of this, 36 injuries made up the useable data set of 72 players. Equating to the average injury rates shown below as well as their mean time loss (Table 2). No significant differences were found in injury incidence between the age groups, the U12s had the greatest mean while the U13s and U14s had the lowest. U15s also had the greatest number of days lost resulting in the greatest severity and burden (Table 2).

	U12 (N=11)		U13 (N=15)		U14 (N=15)		U15 (N=21)		U16 (N=10)	
	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range
Injury	0.55	0.00 –	0.47	0.00 –	0.47	0.00 –	0.48	0.00 –	0.500	0.00 –
Incidence	(0.69)	2.00	(0.74)	2.00	(0.64)	2.00	(0.60)	2.00	(0.71)	2.00
Injury	0.01	0.00 –	0.06	0.00 –	0.035	0.00 –	0.07	0.00 –	0.03	0.00 –
Burden	(0.03)	0.11	(0.13)	0.37	(0.08)	0.32	(0.11)	0.32	(0.06)	0.16
Days Lost	1.27	0.00 –	7.93	0.00 –	4.67	0.00 –	8.67	0.00 –	3.50	0.00 –
	(4.22)	84.00	(16.91)	49.00	(10.80)	42.00	(13.98)	42.00	(7.56)	21.00
Table 2. Ch	ronologica	al age grou	up teams ai	nd their inj	iury inciden	ce, burdei	n and days	lost		•

Within the data set the 72 players were then grouped by their maturity status (Table 3). The average injury incidence rates are shown below as well as their mean time loss. No significant differences were found in injury incidence between maturation status (Table 4). Those who

were post-Phv	nad the greate	st mean wi	me mose	who were		id the lowes	St.
PostPHV also h	ad the greatest	number of	days lost	resulting in	n the greates	t severity ar	nd
burden (Table 3)	۱.						

had the

while these whe

ware sires DUV had the lowest

	Pre		Ci	rca	Post				
	(N=22)		(N=	=28)	(N=22)				
	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range			
Injury	0.59	0.00 –	0.29	0.00 –	0.64	0.00 –			
Incidence	(0.73)	2.00	(0.46)	1.00	(0.73)	2.00			
Injury	0.05	0.00 –	0.03	0.00 –	0.06	0.00 –			
Burden	(0.10)	0.37	(0.07)	0.32	(0.10)	0.32			
Days Lost	6.045	0.000 -	3.500	0.000 –	8.591	0.00 -			
	(14.377)	49.000	(8.834)	42.000	(13.821)	42.00			
Table 3. Ma	Table 3. Maturation status and their injury incidence, burden and days lost								

Maturation status was then broken into maturation timing to further see the impact on injury (Table 4, 5). The average injury incidence rates are shown below as well as their mean time loss. No significant differences were found in injury incidence between maturation status. Those who were on-time in their maturation had the greatest mean while those who were late had the lowest. This was the same for the greatest number of days lost resulting in the greatest severity and burden (Table 4). When the data was inputted into an ANOVA to compare the timings of biological maturation, no significant P values were found for injury incidence, burden or days lost. However, Cohens D did produce a trivial relationship between burden and days lost that was found despite the small sample size of those who are late maturing (n=5) (Table 5).

	Early (N=16)		Ontime	e (N=51)	Late (N=5)				
	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range			
Injury	0.44	0.00 –	0.51	0.00 –	0.40	0.00 –			
Incidence	(0.73)	2.00	(0.64)	2.00	(0.55)	1.00			
Injury	0.04	0.00 –	0.05	0.00 –	0.00	0.00 –			
Burden	(0.09)	0.32	(0.10)	0.37	(0.00)	0.00			
Days Lost	4.81	0.00 –	6.73	0.00 -	0.00	0.00 -			
	(12.18)	42.00	(12.90)	49.00	(0.00)	0.00			
Table 4. M	Table 4. Maturation timing and their injury incidence, burden and days lost								

	Injury	Incidence	Injury	Burden	Days Lost		
	Cohen's D	P _{bonf} (95% CI)	Cohen's D	Pbonf	Cohen's D	Pbonf	
Early Late	0.06	1.000	0.39	1.000	0.39	1.000	
	Trivial	(-1.20 – 1.31)	Small	(-2.12 – 2.90)	Small	(-0.87 – 1.65)	
Early On-time	-0.11	1.000	-0.16	1.000	-0.16	1.000	
	Trivial	(-0.81 – 0.59)	Trivial	(-0.86 – 0.55)	Trivial	(-0.86 – 0.55)	
Late On-time	-0.17	1.000	-0.54	1.000	-0.54	1.000	
	Trivial	(-1.32 – 0.98)	Moderate	(-2.97 – 1.89)	Moderate	(-1.70 – 0.61)	
Table 5. ANOVA	of maturation	timing and their	injury inciden	ce, burden and d	ays lost		

Туре

Of the 36 injuries, they were made up by 29 of the 72 players in this study. The injury type and to whom it affected is depicted below in table 6.

	Ea	rly	On-	time	Late		
Injury Type	Injuries	Days lost	Injury incidence	Days lost	Injury incidence	Days lost	
Foot	-	-	2	0	2	0	
Physis injury -Sever's Disease	-	-	2	0	2	0	
Ankle	1	14	4	35	-	-	
Joint Sprain	-	-	3	35	-	-	
Synovitis/Capsulitis	1	14	1	0	-	-	
Lower Leg	-	-	3	70	-	-	
			ſ	Γ		Γ	
Bone Stress Injury	-	-	2	42	-	-	
Muscle Injury	-	-	1	28	-	-	

Knee	2	7	8	112	-	-
MCL Sprain	-	-	2	63	-	-
Physis Injury – Osgood-Schlatter's Disease and SLJ Syndrome	-	-	2	0	-	-
Contusion	2	7	4	49	-	-
Thigh	1	42	5	32	-	-
Hamstring Strain	1	42	3	21	-	-
Quadriceps Strain	-	-	1	14	-	-
Adductor Strain	-	-	1	7	-	-
Hip/groin	1	14	2	14	-	-
Muscle Injury	1	14	-	-	-	-
Impingement	-	-	2	14	-	-
Trunk	1	0	2	7	-	-
Non-specific Pain	1	0	2	7	-	-
Head and Neck	-	-	2	49	-	-
Concussion	-	-	2	49	-	-

Discussion

Biological Maturation Status Variation Within Chronological Age Groups

The aims of this study were to identify relationships with biological age variation within chronological age groups and the impact this has on injury incidence, severity, burden, and type. Novel to other literature this study explores the status of biological maturation and timing. This is then used to investigate the injury factors to identify any disparities between the influence of biological age and chronological age. The primary findings of this study were that as age increased up to the U15s the range of biological maturation increased with it. Injuries were most common in the U12s and there was no distinctive pattern with the rest of the chronological age groups. However, injury burden and days lost were highest in U15s. Those who were circa-PHV were found to have the highest injury incidence, burden and days lost. When further broken down into early, on-time and late maturing those who were on-time maturing had the greatest association with the injury factors.

Due to the variation in the timing and tempo of biological maturation, there can be disparities within chronological age groups. This study found the U15s had the greatest variation in maturation status, which is consistent with the existing literature. Malina et al (2000) found that their U15-16 age groups had the greatest biological diversity compared with all other age groups. Using various methods to determine reliability and accuracy, Ruf et al. (2021)

determined that U14-U17 have the greatest range in biological maturation in chronological age groups and that the Khamis -Roche approach is sensitive enough to detect this. This paper not only supports the findings of this thesis but also concludes that the Khamis-Roche method is a viable method and is superior to the reliability of the other methods. A reason for the greatest range during this time is because of the timing of maturation, as the U15 and U16s are most likely to be approaching their mature state (i.e., 100% PPAH). Physiologically the body is trying to reach a mature state, and as this materialises at different timings and tempos the PPAH % can range per player, this is specifically found in U15 and U16s.

It is found that there is a maturity selection bias within football academies. Hill et al. (2020) found that there was a bias for players who are advanced in the maturation status that increased with age. Comparable with this study they found no late maturing players in the U15-U16s signifying a selection bias to those who are earlier maturing. Despite this finding, this bias is only clear when using specific banding criteria (\pm 6-months), when analysed using more conservative criteria (\pm 1-year) it was found that only 1.9% of the U16 group were late maturing. Although this thesis used the \pm 6-months criteria, biological age was used ensuring limited bias. We can infer from this nonetheless that with a bias toward the earlier maturing players those who are later maturing cause an increase in the variation found within the chronological age groups and their biological maturation. This research paper supports this narrative as it was found that 22.2% were early maturing, 70.8% were on-time, and 7% were late maturing athletes, again affirming the bias.

In a study by Ginés et al (2023) they used elite and nonelite youth soccer academies and divided the players up due to their chronological age. The categories they formed we U12, U14 and U16. Their U16 had the greatest range of maturity age similar to the data found in

34

this study. In nonelite academies, higher expectations were assigned to taller players, creating a relationship with PHV and assessment of players. Leaving those who are slower maturing at a disadvantage in the selection process within academies, again supporting the selection bias. This can then have a negative effect on the player's psychological state and lead to burnout. However, players who are slower in their PHV are found to have been able to adapt to this disadvantage constructing the 'underdog hypothesis' in which they must develop quicker psychologically to reconcile if they lack physically (Kelly et al., 2020).

The U12s had the lowest variation in maturation status, however, as stated earlier the timing of PHV in biological maturation usually occurs at ages 13-15 which the findings in this study suggest. In a study by Hirose and Hirano (2012) they found that their U12 and U13 teams had the most significant difference or incline in skeletal age and body measurements such as height and weight. This is again because of the timing of maturation usually manifesting from age 13 onwards. It is still important to track the biological maturation of U12 to a better understanding of predicted growth as they advance through the academy. What is more, as already stated injury risk can increase during PHV (Bult, Barendrecht and Tak. 2018; Monasterio. 2023), so being able to predict when this will occur allows key stakeholders and academy staff to be proactive in implementing precautions to modify load and activity levels. Such as using the common practice of periodisation which allows for the manipulation of training variables to amplify any adaptions while trying to moderate the threat of overtraining (Johnson et al, 2023).

Injury Incidence

Regarding the relationship between Chronologically age-grouped teams and injury incidence, this paper found that the U12s had the greatest injury incidence (Table 2). Along with those

35

who are post-PHV (Table 3) and on time in their PHV (Table 4). When comparing the biological offset groups in an ANOVA there were no significant findings between their tempos.

Within the existing literature on academy football, there has been vagueness when trying to depict the trends. Bell-shaped and unclear relationships have been reported. This article will try to provide a clear answer and reasoning. Van der Sleuis et al (2015) found in their study that 13.5-14.5 have the greatest injury incidence, which contrasts the findings of this thesis. They determined that this was because of the inability to handle the load placed on them due to the fragile skeleton and weaker muscles before maturation, the Van der Sleuis et al (2015) paper is limited however because of this finding as although 13.5-14.5 do have weaker skeletons and muscles due to immaturity they gave no indication of chronological age groups as they used biological age as their grouping factor. Nevertheless, in this thesis, the biological age of the U12s was no higher than 12.2 and they still had the greatest injury incidence. As stated earlier those pre-PHV have a weak skeleton which Van der Sleuis et al (2015) stated was the reasoning behind their finding and can also be the reasoning behind this thesis resulting in their paper being narrow. John et al. (2019) tried to explain this finding by identifying that there is a lack of postural control and adolescent awkwardness during a growth spurt which increases the risk of injury thus having a direct impact on injury incidence. However, this paper only used U14 and U15 which limits its findings as it eliminated the chance to find significant relationships elsewhere. What is more, although U12s aren't found to be in their PHV they are still growing and so because of the limited applicability of this paper, we cannot determine whether they also suffer from a misbalance due to growth. Compared to the John et al. (2019) study, this thesis uses various age groups creating a larger sample age, and a more biologically diverse sample, injury risk is then objectively measured allowing greater insight and breakthrough.

Despite various studies stating that injury incidence increases with age, this is not consistent with the findings in this article (Wik et al., 2022; Read et al., 2018; Price et al., 2004). The pattern they found could be rationalised by various hypotheses such as the prospect of players being stronger (Cumming et al, 2017). Muscle growth for males peaks post-PHV and increases with age, accelerating from 13 years (Brown, Patel and Darmawan, 2017). The increase in strength allows for more power to be applied in tackles potentially injuring others. What is more, in athletic and nonathletic populations alike there is found to be a misbalance in muscletendon units, the biomechanical demand on tendons then results in injury (Charcharis et al., 2019). Additionally, training session intensity may have increased, which then increases the risk of injury (Robles-Palażon et al. 2022). The likelihood of having a past injury also increases with age, which also increases the chance of reinjury (Wik. 2022). Nonetheless, injury trends are not always comparable as injury type and location can all be affected by maturation status

(Wik. 2022), this could explain the findings of this study. 75% of the injuries sustained by the U12s were overuse or growth-related issues which is most prominent at this age (Leppänen et al., 2019).

Comparable to this study Hall et al. (2022) found post-PHV to have the greatest overall injury incidence followed by pre-PHV. Those who are post-PHV as stated above have the greatest muscle growth, the increase in power and speed results in more intense training and games. Although games have an increase in intensity and risk-taking behaviour, the older players in this study who are post-PHV play longer games and so have less recovery time and a higher contact time despite said increase in intensity which can result in an increase in injury incidence from improper recovery, which would explain our findings. Finding post-PHV players to have a higher injury incidence than those who are pre-PHV partially contrasts our finding of

37

U12s having the highest injury incidence as none of them were post-PHV. However, as stated earlier the injury incidence with respect to injury type changes which should be kept in mind when other studies are completed. Those who have a pre-PHV status are found to have the highest incidence of growth-related injuries, which this study also suggests. As identified earlier this can be due to a weaker skeleton and weaker muscles. Muscle injuries occur mostly in those who are post-PHV, because of the said increase in physical demands and risk of past injury (Salter, 2022).

Descriptive statistics found those who were on-time to have the greatest injury incidence however statistically there was no significant correlation. Limited studies have included maturity timing in their study. Johnson et al. (2019) was one of the limited studies which did, and they support the findings in this study. They themselves also found on-time players to have the highest injury incidence but it was insignificant. A large sample size may be required to find a significant result as the Johnson et al. (2019) paper similarly only used 76 athletes. Nevertheless, Cohen's D, which standardises results to the sample size, found a trivial relationship between those who were on time compared to those who were late or early.

Injury Burden

In this thesis, the under-15s had the greatest mean injury burden followed by the under-13s (Table 2). Post-PHV (Table 3) and those who are on-time (Table 4) in their maturation also had the greatest injury burden. When comparing the biological offset groups using an ANOVA there was no significant difference, however, there was a trivial effect size found for comparing those who were late and on time.

Like injury incidence, the literature available on injury burden is indistinct due to the limited studies. Materne et al. (2021) completed a four-year prospective study to try and fill the gap in the research area and found that as their chronologically aged teams increased so did injury burden. However, they themselves stated that this does not align with other studies done like in this thesis. Various other findings within the limited and uncertain literature do support the findings of this study as they also found U15s to have the greatest injury burden (Johnson et al. 2019; Read et al. 2017). This is due to an increase in the severity of injuries sustained by the U15s compared to the other chronological age groups, in this study 9% of injuries were severe with the rest being 63.6% moderate and 27.4% minor. Highlighting the minimal minor injuries within the U15s, within this study it can be contrasted to the U12s who had the lowest injury burden and had 100% minor injuries. Although the Johnson et al. (2019) paper supported our findings the only explanation they provide is that the increase is due to training load demands. This is one possible explanation however as chronological age progresses there is an increased chance the player has had a past injury, which then leaves said player more susceptible to additional injuries (Wik. 2022), although in this thesis this is not included in any analysis.

Bult et al. (2018) in a paper primarily about PHV status and injury burden found in their data that u15s had a high injury burden and suggested research on the injury risk factors which this paper is eager to achieve. The research into biological maturation alongside and within chronological age groups allows us to see the impact a misbalance has. They stated that postPHV, specifically 6 months after has the highest injury burden, comparable with this study. This is potentially because severe injuries are found in those in the older age groups (Johnson et al. 2022), this study found predominantly moderate injuries in those who are post-PHV, however, there were few Minor injuries. Salter (2022) stated this may be because they are underprepared for the demands placed upon them. This would support our findings in this

thesis as the injuries suffered by those who are post-PHV were found to be overuse injuries rather than traumatic, so it is not that they were unable to cope with tackles from larger players but that their bodies couldn't withstand the load. This is why muscular injuries are found in older chronological age groups as they are post-PHV (Wik, 2020). What is more, as an athlete progresses through an academy and improves their skill and athleticism, they gain value to the club whether that is to advance in the future to their first team or monetary wise to be sold. This can influence medical staff and the rehab that they deliver may be more conservative to ensure the athlete's value (Johnson et al. 2022). Monasterio et al. (2023) supported the findings in this article as they found post-PHV to have the greatest injury burden regarding muscular, joint and ligament injuries. What is more, they supported the use of player-season equation rather than per 1000h as usually seen in older literature, which was recommended by the International Olympic Committee Consensus Statement (Bahr et al. 2020).

Those who were on-time in their maturation had the greatest injury burden. Monasterio et al. (2022) supported these findings and found that it was 2.8 times higher than those who are late maturing. What is more, they furthered this finding by stating that growth-related injuries were the most burdensome in all three groups. Within the on-time maturers muscle injuries were 4 times more burdensome than for the rest of the groups. The article however only included those in the U14 team, so although it indicated the types of injuries for the manifestation and timing of biological maturation it does not indicate the universal applicability. Monastrio et al. (2023) split players into their PHV status and then again by timing. No matter what stage the player was in, regarding their maturation status, those who were on-time had the greatest injury burden overall. However, Monasterio used ± 5 months while this paper used ± 6 months as it was a more conservative method. When conducting an ANOVA to compare the timing of maturation although no significant relationships were found observing the P value, a moderate variance between late and on-time maturers was found in Cohen's D. It was found that those

who were late had the lowest injury burden compared to those who were on-time in the maturation.

Injury Severity

Observing the relationship between Chronologically age-grouped teams and injury severity, this paper found that the U15s had the greatest injury severity (Table 2). Along with those who are post-PHV (Table 3) and on time in their PHV (Table 4). This was determined by days lost and then categorised by the criteria mentioned earlier. When comparing the biological offset groups using an ANOVA there was no significant difference, however, there was a trivial effect size found for comparing those who were late and on time.

As injury burden is the product of injury severity and incidence, the findings and causes are similar. 9% of the injuries to the U15s were traumatic while the rest were overuse injuries again confirming the increase in non-contact injuries. Although Hall et al. (2020) found that their U16s had the greatest injury burden they displayed the distribution of the severity per age group and their U15s although less severe overall than the U16 and U14s had less minimal injuries that the U16s and more moderate injuries than the U14s. Conversely, this paper did not use the same categorisation for the severity of injury. Despite this, the data produced is still comparable as they included minimal injuries which this study did not and unlike this study, they did not include major injuries. 64% of the injuries in this study were moderate however in the data collected by Hall et al. (2020) approximately only 45% were moderate injuries, although, in this study, only 9% of injuries were severe compared to their approximate 30%. This could be explained by biological maturation, this study did not identify PHV or maturation status, and so they may have had a large misbalance within their age groups resulting in more

severe injuries. What is more, the potential that due to the academy, this study was completed in seemingly handling biological maturation better could result in less severe injuries as the players are equipped to handle the load. They did, however, depict the types of injuries their U15s had. Comparable to this study muscle issues were the most prevalent which as stated earlier indicates that the athletes are underprepared for the loads imposed on them rather than there being a physiological misbalance within the chronological age groups.

Post-PHV had the greatest days lost which then results in a greater overall severity. This is confirmed by (Mandorino et al. 2023) who found that more mature players had a higher number of injuries which in turn were more severe. They noted that this can be justified because of an increase in competition intensity, which as mentioned earlier the players have longer games but equal recovery than younger players despite the game having a higher intensity. Robles-Palaźon et al. (2022) also found that post-PHV had the greatest injury severity, however, they included re-injury data. The data they included was only from the season they studied as they didn't have historic data. This thesis included all injuries from the season including any reinjury like the study abovementioned, however, we did not differentiate between new and reinjuries which can cause the severity to increase with reinjury, 35 days vs 17 respectively. Ontime PHV had the greatest days lost and so had the greatest injury severity. When using an ANOVA, no significant relationship was found when comparing the timing of biological maturation. However, consistent with injury burden a moderate variance between late and ontime maturers was found in Cohen's D. It was found that those who were late had the lowest days lost compared to those who were on-time in the maturation. Due to the novelty of analysing the data using the timing of maturation with the injury factors there is limited availability to compare results, this however, can be used for future studies.

Conclusion

In conclusion, biological maturation although mostly trivial in this study does influence injury. Measuring maturation status through the football season will allow practitioners to predict the times in which their players are most at risk. What is more, specific maturation programmes can be put in place to prevent injuries and prepare players for their athletic careers. Studies of different football academies and their load management would be useful in the study of maturation and injury to detect whether these findings are consistent through various academies. Furthermore, studies into the effect of the tempo (fast, slow, average) on one's maturation process would be beneficial regarding injury factors.

Limitations

The initial proposal for the study was to use the Oslo Sports Trauma Research Centre (OSTRC) Overuse Injury Questionnaire, although the measure is found to be reliable through the literature to date ((Bailón-Cerezo et al., 2020; Kaewkul, Chaijenkij and Tongsai., 2021)) it was unattainable to be used across such a large group of children. It was attempted however the lack of compliance made unreliable data. Which there for limits the data, what is more, because of this the actual number of injuries reported was potentially less as the player had to see the medical team for it to be accounted for which not all players would for a niggle. Furthermore, although this study had a similar number of participants overall in the cohort, those who are late or early maturing were under-represented in the data as the majority were made up of those who were on-time, which in the literature to date isn't commonly found.

References

Bacil, E. D., Mazzardo Júnior, O., Rech, C. R., Legnani, R. F., and de Campos, W. (2015).

'Atividade física e maturação biológica: uma revisão sistemática [Physical activity and biological maturation: a systematic review]', *Revista paulista de pediatria : orgao oficial da Sociedade de Pediatria de Sao Paulo*, *33*(1), 114–121

Bahr, R., Clarsen, B. and Ekstrand, J. (2018) 'Why We Should Focus on the Burden of Injuries and Illnesses, not just their Incidence', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 52, 1018-1021

Bahr, R., Clarsen, B., Derman, W., Dvorak, J., Emery, C. A., Finch, C. F., Hägglund, M., Junge, A., Kemp, S., Khan, K. M., Marshall, S. W., Meeuwisse, W., Mountjoy, M., Orchard, J. W., Pluim, B., Quarrie, K. L., Reider, B., Chwellnus, M., Soligard, T., Stokes, K. A., Timpka, T., Verhagen, E., Bindra, A., Budgett, R., Engebrestsen, L., Erdener, U., Chamari, K. and International Olympic Committee Injury and Illness Epidemiology Consensus Group (2020) 'International Olympic Committee Consensus Statement: Methods for Recording and Reporting Epidemiological Data on Injury and Illness in Sports 2020 (Including the STROBE Extension for Sports Injury and Illness Surveillance (STROBE-SIIS))', Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine

Bailón-Cerezo, J., Clarsen, B., Sánchez-Sánchez, B., and Torres-Lacomba, M. (2020) 'CrossCultural Adaptation and Validation of the Oslo Sports Trauma Research Center Questionnaires on Overuse Injury and Health Problems (2nd Version) in Spanish Youth Sports', *Orthopaedic journal of sports medicine*, *8*(12), 2325967120968552. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2325967120968552</u>

Baxter-Jones, A. D. G., Eisenmann, J. C. and Sherar, L. B. (2005) 'Controlling for Maturation in Paediatric Exercise Science', *Paediatric Exercise Science*, 17, 18-30

Beln Sports, (2022) Beln Sports Announces Record-Breaking Cumulative Viewership of 5.4 Billion for FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022, Available at: <u>https://www.beinsports.com/enmena/articles/bein-sports-announces-record-breaking-</u> <u>cumulat#:~:text=belN%20MEDIA%20Group%20has%20registered,throughout%20the%20m</u> <u>onth%2Dlong%20tournament</u>

Bolorunduro, O. B., Villegas, C., Oyetunji, T. A., Haut, E. R., Stevens, K. A., Chang, D. C., Cornwell, E. E., Efron, D. T. and Haider, A. H. (2011) 'Validating the Injury Severity Score (ISS) in Different Populations: ISS Predicts Mortality Better Among Hispanics and Females', *The Journal of Surgical Research*, 166, 40-44 Bradley, B., Johnson, D., Hill. M., McGee, D., Kanah-ah, A., Sharpin, C., Sharp, P., Kelly, A., Cumming, S. P. and Malina, R. M. (2017) 'Bio-banding in Academy Football: Player's Perceptions of a Maturity Matched Tournament', *Annals of Huan Biology*, 46 (5), 400-408

Brink, M. S., Visscher, C., Arends, S., Zwerver, J., Post, W. J., & Lemmink, K. A. (2010). 'Monitoring stress and recovery: new insights for the prevention of injuries and illnesses in elite youth soccer players', *British journal of sports medicine*, *44*(11), 809–815.

Brown, K. A., Patel, D. R., & Darmawan, D. (2017) 'Participation in Sports in Relation to Adolescent Growth and Development', *Translational pediatrics*, *6*(3), 150–159

Bult, H. J., Barendrecht, M. and Tak, I. J. R. (2018) 'Injury Risk and Injury Burden are Related to Age Group and Peak Height Velocity among Talented Male Youth Soccer Players', *The Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine*, 6 (12) doi: 10.1177/2325967118811042

Cavallo, F., Mohn, A., Chiarelli, F. and Giannini, C (2021) 'Evaluation of Bone Age in Children: A MiniReview', Frontiers in Pediatrics, 9, doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.580314

Charcharis, G., Mersmann, F., Bohm, S. and Arampatzis, A. (2019) 'Morphological Mechanical Properties of the Quadriceps Femoris Muscle-Tendon Unit from Adolescence to Adulthood: effects of Age and Athletic Training', Frontier in Physiology, 10, 1082, doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01082

Chéron, C., Le Scanff, C. and Leboeuf-Yde, C. (2016) 'Association between Sports Type and Overuse Injuries of Extremities in Children and Adolescents: a Systematic Review', *Chiropractic and Manual Therapies 24*, 41

Clarsen, B., Bahr, R., Myklebust, G., Haugsboe-Andersson, S., Docking, A. I., Drew, M., Finch, C. F., Fortington, L. V., Harøy, J., Khan, K. M., Moreau, B., Moore, I. S., Møller, M., Nabhan, D., Oestergaard-Nielsen, R., Pasanen, K., Schwellnus, M., Soligard, T. and Verhagen, E. (2020) 'Improved Reporting of Overuse Injuries and Health Problems in Sport; an Update of the Oslo Sport Trauma Research Questionnaires', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 54, 390396

Cumming, S. P., Lloyd, R. S., Oliver, J. L., Eisenmann, J. C. and Malina, R. M. (2017) 'BioBanding in Sport: Applications to Competition, Talent Identification, and Strength and Conditioning of Youth Athletes', *Strength and Conditioning Journal*, 39 (2), 34-47

DiFiori, J. P., Benjamin, H. J., Brenner, J. S., Gregory, A., Jayanthi, N., Landry, G. L., and Luke, A. (2014) 'Overuse Injuries and Burnout in Youth Sports: a Position Statement from the American Medical Society for Sports Medicine. *British journal of sports medicine*, *48*(4), 287–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-093299</u>

DiFori, J. P., Benjamin, H. J., Brenner, J. S., Gregory, A., Jayanthi, N., Landry, G. L. and Luke, A. (2014) 'Overuse Injuries and Burnout in Youth Sports: a Position Statement from the American Medical Society for Sports Medicine', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48, 287288

Drew, M. K., & Finch, C. F. (2016) 'The Relationship Between Training Load and Injury, Illness and Soreness: A Systematic and Literature Review' *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, *46*(6), 861–883.

Ekstrand, J., Spreco, A., Bangtsson, H. and Bahr, R. (2021) 'Injury Rates Decreased in Men's Professional Football: an 18-Year Prospective Cohort Study of Almost 12 000 Injuries Sustained during 1.8 Million Hours of Play', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 55, 1084-1092

Ergün, M., Denerel, N. H., Bīnnet, M. S. and Ertat, A. K. (2013) 'Injuries in Elite Youth Football Players: a Prospective Three-Year Study', *Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc*, 47(5), 339-346

Faude, O., Röbler, R. and Junge, A. (2013) 'Football Injuries in Children and Adolescent Players: Are There Clues for Prevention?', *Sports Medicine*, 44, 819-837

FIFA (2007), FIFA Big Count 2006: 270 Million People Active in Football, Available at: <u>https://digitalhub.fifa.com/m/55621f9fdc8ea7b4/original/mzid0qmguixkcmruvema-pdf.pdf</u>

FIFA (2021), The Football Landscape, Available at: <u>https://publications.fifa.com/en/visionreport-2021/the-football-landscape/</u>

Fuller, C. W., Ekstand, J., Junge, A., Anderson, T. E., Bahr, R., Dvorak, J., Hägglund, M., McCrory, P. and Meeuwisse, W. H. (2006) 'Consensus Statement on injury definitions and Data Collection Procedures in Studies of Football (Soccer) Injuries', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40. 193-201

Fuller, C. W., Ekstrand, J., Junge, A., Andersen, T. E., Bahr, R., Dvorak, J., Hägglund, M., McCrory, P., & Meeuwisse, W. H. (2006). 'Consensus statement on injury definitions and data collection procedures in studies of football (soccer) injuries', *British journal of sports medicine*, *40*(3), 193–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2005.025270</u>

Fuller, C. W., Ekstrand, J., Junge, A., Andersen, T. E., Bahr, R., Dvorak, J., Hägglund, M., McCrory, P. and Meeuwisse, W. H. (2006) 'Consensus Statement on Injury Definitions and Data Collection Procedures in Studies of Football (Soccer) Injuries', British Journal of Sports Medicine, 40, 193-201

Geffroy, L., Lefevre, N., Thevenin-Lemoine, C., Peyronnet, A., Lakhal, W., Fayard, J. M., Chotel, F. and The French Arthroscopy Society. (2018) 'Return to Sport and Re-Tears after Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction in children and Adolesncents', Orthopaedics and Traumatology: Surgery and Research, 104 (8), 183-188

Ginés, H. J., Huertas, F., García Calvo, T., Ponce-Bordón, J. C., Figueiredo, A. J. and Ballester, R. (2023) 'Age and Maturation Matter in Youth Elite Soccer, but Depending on Competition Level and Gender', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20 (3), doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390%2Fijerph20032015</u>

Greulich, W. W. and Pyle, S. I. (1959) Radiographic Atlas of Skeletal Development of the Hand and Wrist. 2nd edition. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press

Hall, E. C. R., Larruskain, J., Gil, S. M., Lekue, J. A., Baumert, P., Rienzi, A., Moreno, S., Tannure, M. O., Murtagh, C. F., Ade, J. D., Squires, P., Orme, P., Anderson, L., Whitworth-Turner, C. M., Morton, J. P., Drust, B., Williams, A, G. and Erskine, R. M. (2020) 'Injury Risk is Greater in Physically Mature Versus Biologically Younger Male Soccer Players from Academies in Different Countries', *Physical Therapy in Sport*, 55, 111-118

Hall, E. C. R., Larruskain, J., Gil, S. M., Lekue, J. A., Baumert, P., Rienzi, E., Moreno, S., Tannure, M., Murtagh, C. F., Ade, J. D., Squires, P., Orme, P., Anderson, L., Whitworth-Turner, C. M., Morton, J. P., Drust, B., Williams, A. G. and Erskine, R. M. (2020) 'An Injury Audit in Higher-Level Make Youth Soccer Players from English, Spanish, Uruguayan and Brazilian Academies', *Physical Therapy in Spor*t, 44, 53-60

Halson, S. L. (2014) 'Monitoring Training Load to Understand Fatigue in Athletes', *Sports Medicine*, 44 (2), 139-147

Hawkins, D. and Metheny, J. (2001) 'Overuse Injuries in Youth Sports: Biomechanical Considerations', *Official Journal of the American College of Sports Medicine*, 1701-1707

Hill, M., John, T., McGee, D. and Cumming, S. P. (2022) 'He's Got Growth': Coaches Understanding and Management of the Growth Sport in Male Academy Football', *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, 18, 24-37

Hill, M., Scott, S., Malina, R., McGee, D. and Cumming, P. (2020) 'Relative Age and Maturation Selection Biases in Academy Football', Journal of Sports Sciences, 38:11-12, 1359-1367

Hirose, N. and Hirano, A. (2012) 'The Bias toward Biological Maturation through the Talent Selection in Japanese Elite Youth Soccer Players', *International Journal of Sport and Health Science*, 10, 30-38

Hodgson-Phillips, L. (2000) 'Sports Injury Incidence', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 34 (2), 133-136

Javali, R. H., Krishnamoorthy., Patil, A., Srinivasarangan, M., Suraj. And Sriharsha (2019) 'Comparison of Injury Severity Score, New Injury Severity Score, Revised Trauma Score and Trauma and Injury Severity Score for Mortality Prediction in Elderly Trauma Patients', *Indian Journal of Critical Care Medicine*, 23 (2), 73-77

John, C., Rahlf, A. L., Hamacher, D and Zech, A. (2019) 'Influence of Biological Maturity on Static and Dynamic Postural control among Male Youth Soccer Players', *Gait and Posture*, 68, 18-22

Johnson, A., Doherty, P. J., and Freemont, A. (2009), 'Investigation of growth, development, and factors associated with injury in elite schoolboy footballers: prospective study', *British Medical Journal*, 338

Johnson, D. M., Cumming, S. P., Bradley, B. and Williams, S. (2022) 'The Influence of Exposure, Growth and Maturation on Injury Risk in Male Academy Football Players', *Journal of Sports Science*, 40 (10), 1127-113

Johnson, D., Williams, S., Bekker, S., Bradley, B., & Cumming, S. (2023) 'English academy football practitioners' perceptions of training load, maturation and injury risk: A club case study', *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, *0*(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/17479541231188071

Johnson, J. (2008) 'Overuse Injuries in Young Athletes: Cause and Prevention', *Strength and Conditioning Journal*, 30 (2), 27-31

Johnson, M., Cumming, S., Bradley, B. and Williams, S. (2022) 'The Influence of Exposure, Growth and Maturation on Injury Risk in Male Academy Football Players', *Journal of Sports Sciences*, DOI: 10.1080/02640414.2022.2051380

Jones, S., Almousa, S., Gibb, A. and Allamby, N. (2019) 'Injury Incidence, Prevalence and Severity in High-Level Male Youth Football: A Systematic Review', *Sports Medicine*, 49 (17), doi: <u>10.1007/s40279-019-01169-8</u>

Kaewkul, K., Chaijenkij, K. and Tongsai, S. (2021) 'Validity and Reliability of the Oslo Sports Trauma Research Center (OSTRC) Questionnaire on Overuse Injury and Health Problem in Thai Version', *Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand*, 104, 105-113

Kelly, A. L., Wilson, M. R., Gough, L. A., Knapman, H., Morgan, P., Cole, M., Jackson, D. T. and Williams, C. A. (2020) 'A Longitudinal Investigation into the Relative Age Effect in an English Professional Football Club: Exploring the 'Underdog Hypothesis', *Science and Medicine in Football*, 4 (2), 111-118

Khamis, H. and Roche, A. (1994) 'Predicting Adult Stature Without using Skeletal Age: the Khamis-Roche Method', *American Academy of Pediatrics*, 94 (4), 504-507

Krustrup, P. and Krustrup, B. R. (2018) 'Football is Medicine: it is Time for Patients to Play!', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 52, 1412-1414

Krustrup, P., Aagaard, P., Nybo, L., Petersen, J., Mohr, M. and Bangsbo, J. (2010) 'Recreational Football as a Health Promoting Activity: A Topical Review', Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Sports Science, 1-13

Leppänen, M., Pasanen, K., Clarsen, B., Kannus, P., Bahr, R., Parkkari, J., Haapasalo, H. and Vasankari, T. (2019) 'Overuse Injuries are Prevalent in Children's Competitive Football: A Prospective Study using the OSTRC Overuse Injury Questionnaire', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53, 165-171

Levine, R. H., Thomas, A., Nezwek, T. A. and Waseem, M. (2023) *Salter-Harris Fracture.* Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing

Lloyd, R. S., Oliver, J. L., Faigenbaum, A. D., Myer, G. D. and De Ste Croix, M. B. A. (2014) 'Chronological Age vs. Biological Maturation Implications for Exercise Programming in Youth', *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 28 (5), 1454-1464

Lloyd, R. S., Oliver, J. L., Faigenbaum, A. D., Myer, G. D., and De Ste Croix, M. B. (2014). 'Chronological age vs. biological maturation: implications for exercise programming in youth', *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *28*(5), 1454–1464

Malina RM, Bouchard C, Bar-Or O. Growth, Maturation and Physical Activity. São Paulo: Phorte; 2009

Malina, R. M. (2011) 'Skeletal Age and Age Verification in Youth Sport', *Sports Medicine*, 41 (11), 925-947

Malina, R. M., Coelho E SILVA, M. J., Figueiredo, A. J., Carling, C. and Beunen, G. P. (2012) 'Interrelationships Among Invasive and Non-Invasive Indicators of Biological Maturation in Adolescent Male Soccer Players', *Journal of Sports Science*, 30 (15), 1705-1717 Malina, R. M., Dompier, T. P., Powell, J. W., Barron, M. J. and Moore, M. T. (2007) 'Validation of a Non-Invasive Maturity Estimate Relative to Skeletal Age in Youth Football Players', *Clinical Journal of Sports Medicine*, 17, 362-368

Malina, R. M., Peña Reyes, M. E., Eisenmann, J. C., Horta, L., Rodrigues, J. and Miller, R. (2000) 'Height, Mass and Skeletal Maturity of Elite Portuguese Soccer Players Aged 11-16 Years', *Journal of Sports Science*, 18, 685-693

Malina, R. M., Rogol, A. D., Cumming, S. P., Coelho e Silva, M, J. and Figueiredo, A. J (2015) 'Biological Maturation of Youth Athletes: Assessment and Implications', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 49, 852-859

Malina, R. M., Woynarowska, B., Bielicki, T., Beunen, G., Eweld, D., Geithner, C. A., Huang, Y. and Rogers, D. M. (1997) 'Prospective and Retrospective Longitudinal Studies of the Growth, Maturation, and Fitness of Polish Youth Active in Sport', *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 18 (3), 179-185

Mandorino, M., Figueiredo, A. J., Gjaka, M., and Tessitore, A. (2023) 'Injury incidence and risk factors in youth soccer players: a systematic literature review. Part II: Intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors'. *Biology of sport*, *40*(1), 27–49

Marynowicz, J., Kikut, K., Lango, M., Horna, D. and Andrzejewski, M. (2020) 'Relationship Between the Session-RPE and External Measures of Training Load in Youth Soccer Training', *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 34 (10), 2800-2804

Materne, O. (2021) 'Epidemiology, Flexibility, Growth and Maturation in Youth Elite Soccer Players: Prospective Research Leading to Clinical Perspectives in Paediatric Sports Medicine', Edge Hill University

Materne, O., Chamari, K., Farooq, A., Weir, A., Hölmich, P., Bahr, R., Greig, M. and McNaughton, L. R. (2021) 'Injury Incidence and Burden in a Youth Elite Football Academy: a Four-Season Prospective Study of 551 Players Aged from Under 9 to Under 19 Years', *British journal of Sports Medicine*, 44, 493-500

Mirwald, R. L., Baxter-Jones, A. D., Bailey, D. A., and Beunen, G. P. (2002) 'An assessment of maturity from anthropometric measurements', *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *34*(4), 689–694. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200204000-00020</u>

Monasterio, X. (2023) 'Injuries in Athletic Club Players: Growth and Maturation as Potential Risk Factors (PhD Academy Award)', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, DOI: 10.1136/bjsports-2023-106702

Monasterio, X. (2023) 'Injuries in Athletic Club Players: Growth and Maturation as Potential Risk Factors', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2023-106702

Monasterio, X., Bidaurrazaga-Letona, I., Larruskain, J., Lekue, J. A., Diaz-Beitia, G., Santisteban, J. M., Martin-Garetxana, I., AND Gil, S. M. (2022) 'Relative skeletal maturity status affects injury burden in U14 elite academy football players', *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, *32*(9), 1400–1409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.14204</u>

Monasterio, X., Gil, S., Bidaurrazaga-Letona, I., Lekue, J. A. Diaz-Beitia, G., Santisteban, J. M., Lee, D. J., Zumeta-Olaskoaga, L., Martin-Garetxana, I. and Larruskain, J. (2023) 'Peak Height Velocity Affects Injury Burden in Circa-PHV Soccer Players', *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 44 (4), 292-297

Norton, K. (2018) 'Standards for Anthropometry Assessment', in K. Norton and R. Eston (4th) *Kinanthropometry and Exercise Physiology*. London: Routledge, 68-137

Noyes, F. R., Lindenfeld, T. N. and Marshall, M. T. (1988) 'What Determines an Athletic Injury (Definition)? Who Determines an Injury (Occurrence)?', *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 16, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/03635465880160S116</u>

Olivares, L. A. F., De León, L. G. and Fragoso, M. I. (2020) 'Skeletal Age Predication Model from Percentage of Adult height in Children and Adolescents', *Scientific Reports*, 10, 15760

Østergaard-Nielsen, R., Shrier, I., Casals, M., Nettel-Aguirre, A., Møller, M., Bolling, C., Bittencourt, N. F. N., Clarsen, B., Weddderkopp, N., Soligard, T., Timpka, T., Emery, C. A., Bahr, R., Jacobsson, J., Whiteley, R., Dahlström, Ö., Van Dyk, N., Pluim, B. M., Stamatakis, E., Palacios-Derflingher, L., Fagerland, M. W., Khan, K. .M., Ardern, C. L. and Verhagen, E. (2020) 'Statement on Methods in Sport Injury Research From the First METHODS MATTER Meeting, Copenhagen, 2019', Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy, 50 (5), 226-233

Owoeye, O. B. A., VanderWey, M. J. and Pike, I. (2020) 'Reducing Injuries in Soccer (Football): an Umbrella Review of Best Evidence Across the Epidemiological Framework for Prevention', *Sports Medicine*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-020-00274-7</u>

Pecina, M.M., & Bojanic, I. (2003). Overuse Injuries of the Musculoskeletal System (2nd ed.). CRC Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/b14243</u>

Philippaerts, R. M., Vaeyens, R., Janssens, M., Van Renterghem, B., Matthys, D., Craen, R., Bourgois, J., Vrijens, J., Beunen, G., and Malina, R. M. (2006). 'The relationship between peak height velocity and physical performance in youth soccer players', *Journal of sports sciences*, *24*(3), 221–230

Price, R. J., Hawkins, R. D., Hulse, M. A. and Hodson, A. (2004) 'The Football Association Medical Research Programme: An Audit of Injuries in Academy Youth Football', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 38, 466-471

Radnor, J. M., Oliver, J. L., Waugh, C. M., Myer, G. D., Moore, I. S., andLloyd, R. S. (2018) 'The Influence of Growth and Maturation on Stretch-Shortening Cycle Function in Youth', *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, *48*(1), 57–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-</u> 0170785-0

Read, P. J., Oliver, J. L., De Ste Croix, M. B. A., Myer, G. D. and Lloyd, R. S. (2018) 'An Audit of Injuries in Six English Professional Soccer Academies', *Journal of Sports Science*, 36 (13), 1542-1548

Robles-Palazón, F. J., Ruiz-Pérez, I., Aparicio-Sarmiento, A., Cejudo, A., Ayala, F. and Sainz de Baranda, P. (2022) 'Incidence, burden, and Pattern of Injuries in Spanish Male Youth Soccer Players: A Prospective Cohort Study', *Physical Therapy in Sport*, 56, 48-59

Ruf, L., Cumming, S., Härtel, S., Hecksteden, A., Drust, B. and Meyer, T. (2021) 'Construct validity of percentage of predicted adult height and BAUS skeletal age to assess biological maturity in academy soccer', *Annals of Human Biology*, 48:2, 101-109

Salter, J. (2022) 'Training Load Dose-Responses in Adolescent Male Football: the Importance of Biological Maturation', Doctoral Thesis, University of Gloucestershire, Available at: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7375-1476</u>

Salter, J., Cummings, S., Hughes, J. and De Ste Croix, M. (2022) 'Estimating Somatic Maturity in Adolescent Soccer Players: Methodological Comparisons', *International Journal of Sports Science and Coaching*, 17 (1), doi: 10.1177/17479541211020418

Serinelli, S., Panebianco, V., Martino, M., Battisti, S., Rodacki, K., Marinelli, E., Zaccagna, F., Semelka, R. C., and Tomei, E. (2015) 'Accuracy of MRI skeletal age estimation for subjects 12-19. Potential use for subjects of unknown age', *International journal of legal medicine*, *129*(3), 609–617. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00414-015-1161-y</u>

Slater, J., Johnson, D. and Towlson, C. (2021) 'A Stitch in Time Saves Nine: the Importance of Biological Maturation for Talented Athlete Development', *The Sport and Exercise Scientist*, 69, available at: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7375-1476</u>

Sprouse, B., Alty, J., Kemp, S., Cowie, C., Mehta, R., Tang, A., Morris, J., Cooper, S. and Varley, I. (2020) 'The Football Association Injury and Illness Surveillance Study: The Incidence, Burden and Severity of Injuries and Illness in Men's and Women's International Football', *Sports Medicine*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-020-01411-8</u>

Stewart, W. and Carson, A. (2022) 'Heading in the Right Direction', *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 18, 573-574

Swann, C., Telenta, J., Draper, G., Liddle, S., Fogarty, A., Hurley, D. and Vella, S. 'Youth Sport as a Context for Supporting Mental Health: Adolescent Male Perspectives', *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 35, 55-64

Sweeney, L., Cumming, S. P., MacNamara, Á. and Horan, D. (2022) 'A Tale of Two Selection Biases: The Independent Effects of Relative Age and Biological Maturity on Player Selection in the Football Association of Ireland's National Talent Pathway', International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching, 18 (2), <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/17479541221126152</u>

Tanner, J. M., Healy, M., Goldstein, H. and Cameron, N. (2001) *Assessment of skeletal maturity and prediction of adult height (TW3 method)*. 3rd ed. London: WB Saunders, Harcourt Publishers Ltd

Tanner, J.M. (1962) Growth at adolescence. 2nd Edition, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.

The Football Association (2022) The FA to Trail the Removal of Heading in U12 Matches and
Below in 2022-2023 Season. Available at:
https://www.thefa.com/news/2022/jul/18/statementheading-trial-u12-games-20221807
(Accessed: 20.03.2023)

Thurlow, F. G., Kite, R. J. and Cumming, S. P. (2022) 'Revisiting Youth Player Development in Australian Rules Football: is there a Place for Bio-Banding?', *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, 17 (3), 637-646

Timpka, T., Jacobsson, J., Bickenbacj, J., Finch, C. F., Ekberg, J. and Nordenfelt, L. (2014) 'What is a Sports Injury?', *Sports Medicine*, 44, 423-428

Toselli, S., Benedetti, L., Miceli, R., Aiello, P. and Nanni, G. (2021) 'Injury Risk and Maturity Status in Italian Elite Young Football Player', *Muscles, Ligaments and Tendons Journal*, 11 (3), 592-599

Towlson, C., Salter, J., Ade, J. D., Enright, K., Harper, L. D., Page, R. M., and Malone, J. J. (2021) 'Maturity-associated considerations for training load, injury risk, and physical performance in youth soccer: One size does not fit all', *Journal of sport and health science*, *10*(4), 403–412

Tsutsui, T., Iizuka, S., Sakamaki, W., Maemichi, T., and Torii, S. (2022) 'Growth until Peak Height Velocity Occurs Rapidly in Early Maturing Adolescent Boys', *Children (Basel, Switzerland)*, *9*(10), 1570. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/children9101570</u>

Van Der Sluis, A., Elferink-Gemser, M. T., Brink, M. S., and Visscher, C. (2015) 'Importance of peak height velocity timing in terms of injuries in talented soccer players', *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, *36*(4), 327–332

Van Der Sluis, A., Elferink-Gemser, M. T., Coelho-e-Silva, M. J., Nijboer, J. A., Brink, M. S. and Visscher, C. (2014) 'Sport Injuries Aligned to Peak Height Velocity in Talented Pubertal Soccer Players', *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 35 (4), 351-355

weeney, L., Cumming, S. P., MacNamara, Á., and Horan, D. (2022) 'A tale of two selection biases: The independent effects of relative age and biological maturity on player selection in the Football Association of Ireland's national talent pathway', *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, *0*(0).

Wik, E H. (2022) 'Growth, maturation and injuries in high-level youth football (soccer): A mini review', *Frontiers in Sport and Active Living*, 4, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389%2Ffspor.2022.975900</u>

Wik, E. H., Lolli, L., Chamari, K., Materne, O., Di Salvo, W., Gregson, W. and Bahr, R. (2021) 'Injury Patterns Differ with Age in Male Youth Football: a Four-Season Prospective Study of 1111 Time-Loss Injuries in an Elite National Academy', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 55, 794-800

Wik, E. H., Martínez-Silván, D., Farooq, A., Cardinale, M., Johnson, A. and Bahr, R. (2022) 'Skeletal Maturation and Growth Rates are Related to Bone and Growth Plate Injuries in Adolescent Athletics', Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 30 (5), 894-903

Wik, E. H., Martínez-Silván, D., Farooq, A., Cardinale, M., Johnson, A. and Bahr, R. (2020) 'Skeletal Maturation and Growth Rates are Related to Bone and Growth Plate Injuries in Adolescent Athletics', *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, doi:10.1111/sms.13635

Wilczyński, B., Radzimiński, Ł., Sobierajska-Rek, A., de Tillier, K., Bracha, J. and Zorena, K. (2022) 'Biological Maturation Predicts Dynamic Balance and Lower Limb Power in Young Football Players', *Biology*; 11(8):1167

Yang, J., Tibbetts, A. S., Covassin, T., Cheng, G., Nayar, S. and Heiden, E. (2012) 'Epidemiology of Overuse and Acute Injuries Among Competitive Collegiate Athletes', *Journal of Athletic Training*, 47 (2), 198-204

Yapici, H., Gulu, M., Yagin, F. H., Eken, O., Gabrys, T. and Knappova, V. (2022) 'Exploring the Relationship between Biological Maturation Level, Muscle Strength, and Muscle Power in Adolescents', *Biology*; 11(12):1722

Zhang, A., Sayre, J. W., Vachon, L., Liu, b. j. and Huang, H. K. (2009) 'Racial Differences in Growth Patterns of Children Assessed on the Basis of Bone Age', *Radiology*, 250 (1), 228235